
Q&A 
 
 
1. Is it necessary, prior to the official submission of the proposal to submit an officially signed 
document confirming our participation in the RFP?  
Answer: This is not necessary.  

2. Can you please clarify what should be filled in the below section of page 3 of the RFP?  

 

Answer: Payment terms mean:  
3% discount if payment is made within 10 days after receipt of an invoice; 
2.5% discount if payment is made within 15 days after receipt of an invoice; 
2% discount if payment is made within 20 days after receipt of aninvoice; 
no discount - payment is made within 30 days after receipt of an invoice. 
 
According to the assignment, the terms of payment for this RFP are 30 Days Net, after receipt of 
invoice and acceptance of work. 
 
3. How many campaigns do you plan on an annual basis that you will need the agency's services 
for? 
Answer: UNICEF Bulgaria traditionally conducts a large-scale integrated communication 
campaign in Q4 (most often November-December), which combines fundraising (call-to-action), 
awareness and advocacy elements. The topic of defined according to the priorities of the 
organisation. Among the areas on which UNICEF Bulgaria has been working recently are inclusive 
education, the mental health of children and young people, adolescent engagement, the rights 
of children with disabilities, early childhood development, emergency response because of the 
war in Ukraine, etc. Please note that UNICEF does not work exclusively with one creative agency 
and establishing a long-term agreement (LTA) does not guarantee any certain order volume or 
monetary value from UNICEF. If UNICEF establishes an LTA with several  agencies, for each 
campaign/iniiative a separate creative brief is prepared, and to guarantee the 'best value for 
money' principle, UNICEF invites at least two of the vetted agencies to sumbit proposals.  
 
4. Will there be traditional media buying for radio and TV within the different campaigns, or it 
is expected to be pro bono? 
Answer: No, there will be no traditional media buying. The media presence of UNICEF Bulgaria 
(broadcasting of TV and radio spots, media appearances –  programmes/interviews/reportages; 
publications in online and print media, advertising banners, out-of-home advertising, etc.) is 
negotiated pro bono. UNICEF Bulgaria's internal Communication team actively works in this 



direction, and the creative agency involved in a specific campaign/initiative is expected to 
support these efforts.  
 
5. Will there be digital inventory purchases for the digital campaigns (other than social media)?  
Answer: Yes.  
 
6. In regard to the creative task specified in the brief – which social groups are the most 
disadvantaged and discriminated against? Do you have any data that you can share? What is 
the social attitude towards them? Should the creative proposal focus on them or it should 
communicate more generally the inclusion of children?   
Answer: Building on the important messages around diversity and inclusion that we have seen in 
sport over recent years, the creative platform should focus on non-discrimination and inclusion 
for every child, regardless of gender, race, disabilities, geographies, migratory status, etc. Among 
the vulnerable groups of children are children with disabilities, Roma children for marginalized 
communities, children from poor households, refugee and migrant children, etc. Tha campaign 
is planned in a period when we celebrate the World Children’s Day (20 November) – the 
anniversary of the adoption of the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child, which has non-
discrimination as a key guiding principle.  Linking football and the World Children’s Day can be a 
platform to discuss the importance of equality in sports and play. This can include the right to 
play for children with disabilities, girls in sports, championing the rights of all children in sports.  
 
7. Will you work with campaign ambassadors for the campaign planned in November- 
December? If so, please let us know who they are.  
Answer: UNICEF Bulgaria has three National Ambassadors – actress Elena Petrova, musician 
Vladimir Ampov-Grafa and opera singer Sonia Yoncheva, who are permanently engaged with 
UNICEF's causes and involved in the organization's campaigns and initiatives in Bulgaria 
depending on the topic and the planned activities. UNICEF also seeks the support of other 
celebrities and influencers, again depending on the topic and the objectives of the respective 
campaign or initiative. We expect the agencies to suggest specific names of high-profile 
supporters and activities based on the campaign brief to reach a wider audience.  
 
8. Is there an international partnership between UNICEF and FIFA World Cup 2022? Can we use 
the logo or other elements (e.g. pictures of footballers)?  
Answer: No, UNICEF has no formal partnership with FIFA or the Qatar World Cup, the campaign 
is not associated with FIFA and the World Cup’s brand and logo, so the logo and other elements 
cannot be used in the campaign materials.  The aim of the campaign is to use the public attention 
around the World Cup and the time of the World Children’s Day and send a positive message of 
non-discrimination and inclusion for every child.  
 

9. Do we have a more specific cause which we have to raise money for?   
Answer: UNICEF promotes the rights and wellbeing of every child and works to translate that 
commitment into practical action, focusing special effort on the most vulnerable children. The 
campaign planned for November-December 2022 will not fundraise for a specific 



topic/programme, it aims to fundraise for UNICEF’s programmes and activities in Bulgaria to 
support the vulnerable chlidren. Among the vulnerable groups of children are children with 
disabilities, Roma children for marginalized communities, children from poor households, 
refugee and migrant children, children in formal care, children victims of violence and children 
with mental health issues.  The fundraising appeal will be general (for inclusion and non-
discrimination, for the vulnerable types of children, for the rights of every child and adolescent 
to play, be happy and healthy and develop their full potential).  
UNICEF’s integrated fundraising and communication campaigns combine fundraising (call-to-
action) with awareness and advocacy elements.  
Key advocacy elements for the campaign planned for the end of 2022: Building on the important 
messages around diversity and inclusion that we have seen in sport over recent years, the 
creative platform should focus on non-discrimination and inclusion for every child, regardless of 
gender, race, disabilities, geographies, migratory status, etc.  The aim is to use the World Cup for 
a mirroring campaign showing the power of sport (football and beyond) for some of UNICEF 
Bulgaria’s key topics – like non-discrimination, early childhood development (play), inclusive 
education, mental health and resilience, skills building, gender equality, youth empowerment, 
healthy lifestyles, protection, developing full potential, etc. The campaign is planned in a period 
when we celebrate the World Children’s Day (20 November) – the anniversary of the adoption 
of the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child, which has non-discrimination as a key guiding 
principle. Linking football and the World Children’s Day can be a platform to discuss the 
importance of equality in sports and play. This can include the right to play for children with 
disabilities, girls in sports, championing the rights of all children in sports.  
Fundraising call-to-action: Support the most vulnerable children in Bulgaria. Become 
BLAGODETEL with monthly donations to UNICEF 
For more information on UNICEF Bulgaria’s donation channels please refer to  
https://dari.unicef.bg/  
 
10. Do we have a defined measurable goal for the campaign? 
Answer: The fundraising target is to recruit 1,200 new monthly SMS donors and 200 monthly 
online donors and to raise additional 70,000 BGN from one-off donations through the campaign. 
 
11. Is there a production budget or we would have to look for and provide sponsorship for the 
executions of the ideas? 
Answer: Yes, there is a production budget for the campaign for this specific assignment (point 5 
in the Technical proposal of the RFP). It will be shared after the evaluation of the creative 
proposals and the finalization of the selection process. Sponsorship ideas are welcome. 
 
12. The campaign will be only local or should it be in some connection to international activities 
during the World Cup? 
Answer: UNICEF will launch a global communication campaign around World Children’s Day 2022 
(20th November) which will be related to the World Cup. UNICEF in Bulgaria will build on the 
global concept and guidelines and will develop a local campaign the creative brief for which is 
included in the current RFP. However, we could benefit from the global communication assets 
developed by UNICEF HQ. Further information will be shared after the evaluation of the creative 

https://dari.unicef.bg/


proposals for this specific assignment and the finalization of the selection process. Please note 
that UNICEF has no formal partnership with FIFA or the Qatar World Cup, the campaign is not 
associated with FIFA and the World Cup’s brand and logo.  The aim of the campaign is to use the 
public attention around the World Cup and the time of the World Children’s Day and send a 
positive message of non-discrimination and inclusion for every child.  
 

13. Is this а fundraising campaign? If so, what are we raising funds for specifically? 
Answer: Yes, this will be a fundraising campaign. Please note that UNICEF’s integrated fundraising 
and communication campaigns combine fundraising (call-to-action) with awareness and 
advocacy elements.  
Key advocacy elements for the campaign planned for the end of 2022: Building on the important 
messages around diversity and inclusion that we have seen in sport over recent years, the 
creative platform should focus on non-discrimination and inclusion for every child, regardless of 
gender, race, disabilities, geographies, migratory status, etc.  The aim is to use the World Cup for 
a mirroring campaign showing the power of sport (football and beyond) for some of UNICEF 
Bulgaria’s key topics – like non-discrimination, early childhood development (play), inclusive 
education, mental health and resilience, skills building, gender equality, youth empowerment, 
healthy lifestyles, protection, developing full potential, etc. The campaign is planned in a period 
when we celebrate the World Children’s Day (20 November) – the anniversary of the adoption 
of the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child, which has non-discrimination as a key guiding 
principle. Linking football and the World Children’s Day can be a platform to discuss the 
importance of equality in sports and play. This can include the right to play for children with 
disabilities, girls in sports, championing the rights of all children in sports.  

Fundraising call-to-action: Support the most vulnerable children in Bulgaria. Become 
BLAGODETEL with monthly donations to UNICEF 

For more information on UNICEF Bulgaria’s donation channels please refer to  
https://dari.unicef.bg/  

 
14. Is there a specific cause or end result we want to raise funds for? If not, can we look at it as 
a social awareness/image campaign? 
Answer: UNICEF promotes the rights and wellbeing of every child and works to translate that 
commitment into practical action, focusing special effort on the most vulnerable children. The 
campaign planned for November-December 2022 will not fundraise for a specific 
topic/programme, it aims to fundraise for UNICEF’s programmes and activities in Bulgaria to 
support the vulnerable chlidren. Among the vulnerable groups of children are children with 
disabilities, Roma children for marginalized communities, children from poor households, 
refugee and migrant children, children in formal care, children victims of violence and children 
with mental health issues.  The fundraising appeal will be general (for inclusion and non-

https://dari.unicef.bg/


discrimination, for the vulnerable types of children, for the rights of every child and adolescent 
to play, be happy and healthy and develop their full potential).  

15. Is this a campaign that looks at sports strictly through the lens of football, or should it 
include other sports as well? 

Answer: Other sports could be included. 

16. Do we have some kind of official affiliation with the World Cup? Or are we using it as an 
occasion to raise awareness? 

Answer: UNICEF has no formal partnership with FIFA or the Qatar World Cup, the campaign is 
not associated with FIFA and the World Cup’s brand and logo. The aim of the campaign is to use 
the public attention around the World Cup and the time of the World Children’s Day and send a 
positive message of non-discrimination and inclusion for every child.  

17. The World Cup has garnered a lot of bad press, due to workers rights and deaths,  
LGBTQ backlash and criticism form current and former football stars. What is our position 
towards that? 
Answer: Please refer to the answer of question 16.  
 
18: If there is one main message we want to convey - what is it? 
Answer:  As stated in the creative brief, the purpose is to link football 
(and sports in general), childhood and UNICEF with a focus on non-discrimination and inclusion.  
 
19.  Are there any uses, themes and subjects we want to avoid? 
Answer: Please focus on the creative brief in the RFP and the clarifications provided in the 
answers to the questions.  
 
20: Do we accept that the general public is our target, or do we have a certain audience in mind 
that we should reach first? 
Answer: The target audience for fundraising is active population from big cities, aged 30 to 60, 
with higher education, middle and high income. More details about the profile of the donors 
would be shared after the evaluation of the creative proposals for this specific assignment and 
the finalization of the selection process.  
 
21. Are there any social groups we definitely want to include in our campaign? 
Answer: Please refer to the answer to question 13.  
 
22. Can we work with celebrities? 
Answer: UNICEF seeks the pro-bono support of celebrities and influencers depending on the topic 
and the objectives of the respective campaign or initiative. We expect the agencies to suggest 



specific names of high-profile supporters and activities based on the campaign brief to reach a 
wider audience.  
 
23. Do you have any long-term relations with any celebrities? If yes – which ones? 
Answer: UNICEF Bulgaria has three National Ambassadors – actress Elena Petrova, musician 
Vladimir Ampov-Grafa and opera singer Sonia Yoncheva, who are permanently engaged with 
UNICEF's causes and involved in the organization's campaigns and initiatives in Bulgaria 
depending on the topic and the planned activities. 
 
24. Are there any formats that are obligatory? Can we decide what type of media is to be used, 
or are there formats that are a must? 
Answer: TV and social media are mandatory, the agencies are encouraged to suggest any other 
types of media that can be effective communication channels.  
 
25. Are we aiming for a strictly local campaign or are we looking for something with a global 
reach/tone? 
Answer: UNICEF will launch a global communication campaign around World Children’s Day 2022 
(20th November) which will be related to the World Cup. UNICEF in Bulgaria will build on the 
global concept and guidelines and will develop a local campaign the creative brief for which is 
included in the current RFP. However, we could benefit from the global communication assets 
developed by UNICEF HQ. Further information will be shared after the evaluation of the creative 
proposals for this specific assignment and the finalization of the selection process. 
 
26. Are there any other resources/partners/affiliates that we can have in mind when coming 
up with the campaign? We mean - sports resources, clubs, teams and organisations that 
already work with you and can provide us with volunteers, representatives of different social 
groups and sports infrastructure? 
Answer: No, UNICEF doesn’t have existing partnerships with sports teams or clubs and agencies 
are encouraged suggest such.  
 
27. Target group – can you define it? 
Answer: Please refer to the the answer to question 20.  
 
28. Could you send us more information about children’s rights – is there a particular group of 
children that we would like to focus on, is there a particular right that we should focus on? 
Answer: For more information on children’s rights, please refer to the UN Convention on the 
Rights of the Child as well as UNICEF Bulgaria’ s website https://www.unicef.org/bulgaria/   
 

29. Could you please send us an example of your previous campaign/s related to this topic – 
children’s rights? 

https://www.unicef.org/bulgaria/


Answer: Please refer to the Campaigns section on UNICEF Bulgaria’s website.   

30. Are there any KPIs to achieve? 

Answer: The fundraising target is to recruit 1,200 new monthly SMS donors and 200 monthly 
online donors and to raise additional 70,000 BGN from one-off donations through the campaign. 
Reach and engagement targets are to be shared after the evaluation of the creative proposals 
for this specific assignment and the finalization of the selection process.  
 

31. Please advise if the quoted bellow means that we should present a portfolio of 2 successful 
campaigns in our portfolio? Can we present more?  

“6) Detailed presentation of two successful integrated campaigns (key messages and 
visuals, video and radio spot, online, out-of-the box activities, including reach, 
engagement and evaluation)….” 

Answer: Yes, you can present more than two campaigns.  

32. Having in mind the quoted below: a) Please advise – 35% on top of what? B) Please advise 
if these 35% refer to price or to volume of work? 

“The selected agency may subcontract with other firms, as appropriate. The 
subcontracted services should not exceed 35% of the overall assignment.” 

Answer: Volume of work 

33. Having in mind the quoted below – could you please give us a detailed description of the 
quoted bellow? 

“Partial bidding is accepted”  
Answer: Partial bidding means that it is acceptable not to include services that the agency could 
not provide in the Technical and the Financial proposal.  

34. Is it acceptable for this RFPS if the agency could not provide any of the described services?  

Answer: Yes, it is acceptable. Please do not include services you could not provide both in the 
technical and the financial proposal.  

35. Could we propose more than 1 creative proposal, respectively more than 1 financial offer?  

Answer: The agency can propose more than one creative proposal for point 5 of the Technical 
proposal. As for the Financial proposal, please note that the price list is not for a specific campaign 
but for the overall work of the agency and the services it provides.  

36. What this days and the quoted percentage mean? 

Please indicate which of the following Payment Terms are offered by you: 
10 Days 3.0%_____15 Days 2.5%_____20 Days 2.0%_____30 Days Net_____Other_____ 

Answer: Payment terms mean: 



3% discount if payment is made within 10 days after receipt of an invoice; 

2.5% discount if payment is made within 15 days after receipt of an invoice; 

2% discount if payment is made within 20 days after receipt of an invoice; 

no discount - payment is made within 30 days after receipt of an invoice. 

37. Do you expect from us a detailed media plan? Do you have any preferences about the media 
mix? 

Answer: We expect a PR plan and a social media plan but the agency could also propose 
additional ideas for media coverage.  

38. Do you expect a detailed PR proposal for the campaign? 

Answer: Yes, please include a PR plan.  

39. Usage rights offer – are you going to use the proposed idea in any other country other than 
Bulgaria? 

Answer: No. 

40. Should we include usage rights in the offer for other countries other than Bulgaria? Which 
countries?  

Answer: No 

41. In your brief there is an information that all questions and answers from all agencies will 
be quoted on your website. Could you please provide a link? 

Answer: The answers are uploaded on the webpage with the RFP announcement.  

42. How do you expect to send you the proposal – printed + a memory stick? You gave us a 
really detailed description of the “packaging” of all hard copy materials – is there any particular 
way of arrangement of the digital copy of the documentation? Should we include all elements 
of the RFP in the digital copy of the materials – financial & technical offer? 

Answer: The Technical proposal shall be sent both printed and on a flash-drive included in the 
Technical proposal envelope. There is no specified way of arrangement of the digital copy. No 
price information should be contained in the Technical Proposal. Please do NOT include a digital 
copy of the Financial proposal. The Financial proposal must be only on paper included in the 
Financial proposal envelope. The detailed instructions are included in the RFP announcement.   

43. Which third-parties (outsource companies) should be included in the technical proposal? 
We might not have information at this stage of work. 

Answer: Please indicate only the information that you can provide at this stage. 

https://www.unicef.org/bulgaria/%D0%BA%D0%BE%D0%BD%D0%BA%D1%83%D1%80%D1%81-%D0%B7%D0%B0-%D1%80%D0%B5%D0%BA%D0%BB%D0%B0%D0%BC%D0%BD%D0%B0-%D0%B0%D0%B3%D0%B5%D0%BD%D1%86%D0%B8%D1%8F-%D0%BF%D0%BE%D0%B4%D0%BA%D1%80%D0%B5%D0%BF%D1%8F%D1%89%D0%B0-%D1%81%D1%8A%D0%B7%D0%B4%D0%B0%D0%B2%D0%B0%D0%BD%D0%B5%D1%82%D0%BE-%D0%B8-%D0%B8%D0%B7%D0%BF%D1%8A%D0%BB%D0%BD%D0%B5%D0%BD%D0%B8%D0%B5%D1%82%D0%BE-%D0%BD%D0%B0-%D0%BA%D0%BE%D0%BC%D1%83%D0%BD%D0%B8%D0%BA%D0%B0%D1%86%D0%B8%D0%BE%D0%BD%D0%BD%D0%B8-%D0%BA%D0%B0%D0%BC%D0%BF%D0%B0%D0%BD%D0%B8%D0%B8


44. Which third-parties should we include as a description – all that we plan to work with for 
the proposed creative idea or the ones that we plan to work for the next 2 years? 

Answer: Point 1 in the Technical proposal refers to the overall work of the agency, not to a specific 
creative idea.  

45. What kind of clients do you consider most appropriate for recommending our work? 

Answer: It is up to the agencies to decide. 

46. Could we add in the price offer extra elements that are included in the creative proposal? 

Answer: Yes, you can add additional lines to the Financial proposal.  

47. Do you expect to receive an agency price list and/or a price offer for the creation of the 
campaign that we’ll propose? 

Answer: The Financial proposal should contain the agency price list. 

48. Is it possible to include more elements (additional services) in your template? For example, 
if we propose to include a “podcast creation” in our creative proposal should we include it as 
a price offer (agency and production offer)? 

Answer: Yes, you can add additional lines to the Financial proposal.  

49. Do you expect to receive a price offer for our creative proposal/s? Do you expect to receive 
a holistic budget, including agency work, production expenses and media expenses (if there are 
some) for the whole campaign? 

Answer: The Financial proposal must contain price list for the overall work of the agency that will 
be taken into consideration if a Long-term agreement is established.   

50. Does the receiver of all invoices (UNICEF) is registered in Bulgaria? If not – which country is 
UNICEF registered in? 

Answer: Yes, UNICEF Bulgaria is registered in Bulgaria. 

51. Is it possible to organize a meeting (online or offline) to discuss the questions? 

Answer: No, all questions should be provided in writing. Meetings (online or offline) are not 
planned.  

52. Can we please deliver the documents on 30th of August by hand. If, can you please let us 
know what time your office is open, and where in your office we should leave the offer?  

Answer: As specified in the RFP document, full proposals should be submitted in ENGLISH and 
must be received at UNICEF in Bulgaria office not later than 17:00 h on August 30th, 2022, duly 
signed and dated. 



Proposals received after the stipulated date and time will be rejected. 

THE PROPOSALS MUST BE SEALED AND CLEARLY MARKED AS FOLLOWS: 

o Outer envelope: 

- Name of company 
- RFP number: LRPS-2022-9176680 Design and implementation of multi-media and targeted 
communication campaigns for UNICEF Bulgaria 
- Address: 87 Kniaz Aleksandar Dondukov Blvd., fl.2 Sofia 1504 

o Inner envelope 1: Technical Proposal: Name of company, RFP number: LRPS-2022-9176680 

o Inner envelope 2: Financial Proposal: Name of company, RFP number: LRPS-2022-9176680 

The proposals should be handed over to the guard who sits at the entrance of the building where 
UNICEF office is located – at 87 Kniaz Al. Dondukow Str., Sofia 1504 

53. Should the "Concept development for a TV fundraising event (2 hours)" be for live event or 
recorded session broadcasted on TV?  

Answer: You can provide a price proposal for concept development for both live and recorded 
TV event. Please note that this category is included in the financial proposal that refers to the 
overall work of the agency.  

54. Can you please give us a list of all current UNICEF ambassadors in Bulgaria?  

Answer: UNICEF Bulgaria has three National Ambassadors – actress Elena Petrova, musician 
Vladimir Ampov-Grafa and opera singer Sonya Yoncheva, who are permanently engaged with 
UNICEF's causes and involved in the organization's campaigns and initiatives in Bulgaria 
depending on the topic and the planned activities. 
 

55. Do you have any studies or other prior information on who is the most likely donator to 
UNICEF campaigns in Bulgaria, any profile for example?  

Answer: The target audience for fundraising is active population from big cities, aged 30 to 60, 
with higher education, middle and high income. More details about the profile of the donors 
would be shared after the finalization of the selection process. 

56. What you consider the main KPI's of digital marketing efforts, which metrics you need to 
report for example forward? 

Answer: The digital marketing efforts support the achievement of the results in the respective 
campaign/initiative launched by UNICEF Bulgaria. Therefore, the main KPIs very much depend on 
the target and the topic of the campaign. For example, if it is a fundraising campaign, the main 
goal is to attract new pledge donors and to increase online donations on UNICEF Bulgaria’s 



donation page so we will measure CTR and conversion rate. If it’s mostly awareness and advocacy 
campaign, then the focus is on reach and social media engagement. After the finalization of the 
RFP process, specific KPIs will be shared in the creative brief for each assignment. 

 

 
 
 


